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DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No. 200524045
AWCB Decision No. 08-0081
Filed with AWCB in Juneau, Alaska

on April 30, 2008


On April 8, 2008 at Juneau, Alaska, we heard on the written record the employer’s Petition to Dismiss.  The employee represented himself; attorney Timothy McKeever represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  After receiving notice from the parties of their agreement to waive oral argument, we closed the record on April 4, 2008.
   We issue this interlocutory decision
 declaring a forfeiture of benefits for a total of forty three and a half (43.5) days.

ISSUE

Should the board dismiss the employee’s claim, or assess a lesser sanction, for delay in submitting to an oral deposition? 


SUMMARY OF THE CASE HISTORY AND RELEVANT EVIDENCE

We incorporate by reference the previous statement of facts and procedural posture as described in our previous interlocutory decisions and orders, excerpts of which are set forth below:

A.  Procedural History up to the September 11, 2007 hearing:

* * *

[On October 1, 2006, t]he employee filed a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, indicating he injured his lumbar spine shoveling snow, while working as the Controller for the employer on November 15, 2005.
  The employee returned to his home in [Spokane].  The employee came under the care of Jeffrey Carlin, M.D. [of Seattle], on [or before] November 23, 2005.   Dr. Carlin referred the employee to an MRI,
 which revealed disc bulges at L2-3, L3-4, and L4-5. The employee was subsequently restricted from work and was provided conservative treatment by several physicians and physician assistants, coming under the primary care of John Schuster, M.D.
  

[In its attachments to the employee’s Report of Occupational Injury, the employer alleged that the employee injured himself while operating a sailboat during rough weather, prior to November 15, 2005.
]

The employer filed a Controversion Notice dated October 26, 2006, indicating the employee’s claim is barred under AS 23.30.100, and that no medical record links the employee’s back condition to his employment.
  In the Controversion, the employer denied all benefits.
  The employee filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim on November 13, 2006, claiming permanent total disability (“PTD”) benefits, medical benefits, transportation costs, and a compensation rate adjustment.

The employer requested the employee to sign a variety of release forms, and a number of discovery disputes arose.  * * *   

The file reflects that the employer’s counsel has been trying to arrange an oral, in-person deposition of the employee since November 30, 2006.
  The employee resisted oral deposition at least as early as December 9, 2006, when he prepared and served on the employer a petition for a protective order from the board that would permit interrogatories rather than an oral deposition.  The board does not have record that this December 9, 2006 petition, resisting an oral deposition, was actually filed by the employee with the board.
  A copy of this petition, which recites service on the employer’s counsel, was later faxed to a Workers Compensation Officer from the employer’s counsel’s office.

The employer served the employee with Interrogatories on March 1, 2007.
  A pre-hearing conference was held on March 15, 2007, at which time the employee was ordered to submit to an oral deposition.
  The employee then filed his appeal of this order to the board.
 

The employee supplied answers to the employer’s interrogatories that are dated June 8, 2007.
  

On the appeal of the WCO’s order to attend a deposition, heard by the board on the written record on June 12, 2007, the employee argued, without citation to legal authority other than AS 23.30.115,  that he should not be required to submit to an oral deposition when he had responded to written interrogatories.
  In his brief, he stated:

I am the only person with full knowledge of all relevant facts regarding the merits of my injury claim, and my communications with Employer and Employer’s representative.

Elsewhere, the employee stated:

Irrespective of spinal stenosis, osteoarthritis, or any latent back disorder, the fact of the matter is that in 55 years of living I had never had a back problem, back injury, or any medical appointment for any back issue whatsoever until November 2005 – after the action (shoveling) which caused the pain, which caused the MD appointment, which caused the MRI, which disclosed the injury.  There is no medical record on earth which represents my seeing any type of health care provider for any back problem prior to November 23, 2005 – when I saw Jeffrey Carlin in Seattle for back pain as chief complaint.

After reviewing the written administrative record, including Mr. Nelson’ argument under AS 23.30.115(a) that he cannot legally be required to submit both to an oral deposition and supply written interrogatories, the board on June 29, 2007 ordered:

ORDER

1. Under AS 23.30.108, we affirm the Board Designee’s discovery order, directing the employee to attend a deposition, as stated in the March 15, 2007 Prehearing Conference Summary.

2. We direct the employee to contact the employer and to complete the arrangements for the deposition within 30 days of the issuance of this decision. When these arrangements are complete, we direct the parties to notify us of the deposition. We retain jurisdiction to modify our order and to consider sanctions under AS 23.30.108(c), if this order is not honored.

3.
The employer’s Petition to Dismiss the employee’s claims for failure to comply with discovery, is set to be heard on August 14, 2007.

This order was issued by the board served by mail on the parties on June 29, and the employee signed a U.S. Postal Service “green card” receipt for this item in Spokane, WA on July 3, 2007.

The employee admitted at the September 12, 2007 hearing that his first contact with the employer’s counsel to arrange a deposition, after receiving the board’s June 29, 2007 order, was on July 26, 2007.  He testified that this contact was “probably” within ten (10) days of receiving the board’s June 29 order.
  The employer’s first documented contact with the employee to arrange a deposition was a letter written to the employee on July 24, 2007, with a Notice of Taking Deposition setting the oral deposition for August 9, 2007.

In late July and August 2007, the parties engaged in discussion of arrangements for an oral deposition, without reaching agreement on the location, time or other conditions for the deposition.
  While in Ketchikan, Mr. Nelson initially agreed to a telephonic or oral deposition in Ketchikan, or in Spokane, WA (if the employer would pay the expense to fly the employee to Spokane).  However, the employer preferred to pay the lower expense of transporting the employee to Seattle from Ketchikan and back, rather than paying for the employer’s lawyer’s travel to and from Ketchikan, or flying the employee (as well as the employer’s lawyer) to Spokane.
  The employer’s counsel was not authorized to agree to fly the employee home to Spokane, WA to take his deposition in Spokane, on the rationale that as Mr. Nelson would ordinarily have to fly through Seattle to return home,
 Mr. Nelson reasonably should submit to a deposition in Seattle.
  Mr. McKeever submitted copies of Alaska Airline sample itineraries demonstrating the extra expense to be incurred by the employer for the employee’s refusal to submit to deposition in Seattle.

The employer then decided to try to depose Mr. Nelson in Ketchikan by issuing a Notice of Deposition dated August 3, 2007, shifting the location for the previously-noticed August 9, 2007 deposition, to Ketchikan.
  The employee apparently communicated with the employer that he would not attend this noticed deposition, which was cancelled on August 6, 2007.
  Mr. Nelson then made plans to return to Spokane.  The employee testified he could not obtain emergency care in Ketchikan because the hospital there was “outside my HMO’s service area.”
  He remained in Ketchikan until at least August 7, 2007.
  There is no evidence that while remaining in Ketchikan Mr. Nelson informed the employer’s counsel of this need for “urgent” medical attention.
  Thereafter, the employee, while expressing a preference for a telephonic deposition, stated specific conditions for an oral deposition in Spokane, WA, and requested the deposition to be held within the next seven days.
  Employer’s counsel was not authorized to agree to Mr. Nelson’s conditions.
  The employee testified that in early September 2007 he contacted Workers’ Compensation Officer Deborah Torgerson for her to intervene to help arrange a deposition under conditions in which the employee is “in control of my environment.”

On the day of the September 11, 2007 hearing, the employer’s/insurer’s counsel submitted a document entitled “Documents for Use by Employer at Hearing on September 11, 2007,” with a certificate of service dated August 10, 2007, consisting of sixteen lettered exhibits placed in chronological, but not letter order.
  At hearing employer’s counsel explained that this compilation of sixteen exhibits was a re-organization of certain exhibits that had previously been filed and served on the employee attached an earlier-filed hearing brief, filed on August 10, 2007, plus additional documents of communications with the employee regarding setting a deposition.  All but two (Exhibits X and Y) of these had previously been served on each party and filed of record before the board more than 20 days prior to the September 11, 2007 hearing.
  The documents show the chronological communications between the parties regarding setting of an oral deposition of the employee.  Comparison of Exhibits Q, R, S, T, U, W, X, and Y shows that the latest-filed exhibits (Exhibit Y, a letter dated August 27, 2007) was filed with the board on August 31, 2007.
  Mr. Nelson’s letter dated August 22, 2007, marked for identification as Exhibit X, was first submitted to the Board as part of the employer’s September 11 compilation.  The board filed this compilation at the hearing on September 11, 2007.  

At hearing, the parties argued their respective positions as to why each had been reasonable in attempting to arrange a deposition of the employee, and the opposing side had been unreasonable.  

Mr. Nelson testified that, during his telephone conversations in late July and early August 2007, he did not inform Mr. McKeever of either: (1) the manner and duration of his travel by motor vehicle and ferry from Spokane to Ketchikan;
 or (2) his fall on the dock in Ketchikan that is alleged to have occurred on or about July 26, 2007, at “approx. 5 pm.”
  One of those telephone conversations took place on July 27, 2007.
  The employee argued that he could not tolerate the conditions imposed by the employer’s attorney for a deposition, and that he still was unwilling to submit to a deposition in Seattle because he would have to stay in an “unfriendly bed” at the end of the day after a four-hour plane ride.  The employee testified that he remained unwilling to submit to deposition in Seattle; as the employee testified, “Seattle has not been on the table,” meaning that he has refused throughout to consider an oral deposition in that city.  The employee testified that he can perform activity for only four (4) hours per day.  The employee argued that he should not have to submit to an oral deposition, that his life “is in an uproar” due to the combination of his medical conditions.

The employee testified that he attended the entire hearing on September 11, 2007, telephonically, while laying on his back due to lumbar pain and radicular symptoms.  During the hearing, the employee was unable to manipulate papers, and had poor recall of exhibits.  The employee testified that the July 26, 2007 fall involved a tear of a biceps muscle, a cracked rib, and exacerbation of a rotator cuff condition, such that he can barely hold up a telephone.  The employee testified he does not have a headset for use of the telephone, but relied on the speakerphone function of his telephone.  Mr. Nelson testified that during the September 11 hearing he balanced the telephone on his chest during the hearing to rest his arms.  During the hearing, Mr. Nelson did not have a copy of the Employer’s Brief (with attached exhibits) available, and could not recall the contents of those exhibits (including the original Report of Injury form).  The employee could not recall the content of letters of correspondence with the employer’s attorney.  The employee testified he could not recall the sequence of events regarding the failure of an oral deposition to be scheduled from October 2006 to September 11, 2007, and that recitation of certain documents to him during the hearing (at which he appeared telephonically) did not refresh his recollection.  The employee refused to respond to questions regarding documents that were not placed in front of him for review.   The employee admitted that with his current condition, it is difficult for him to handle paper documents.  The employee testified that he has no dexterity in the morning, that he has “morning stiffness,” and as a consequence he could not attend before noon any oral deposition that might be ordered.  The employee testified that, at the time of the hearing, he had no plans to travel outside Spokane except that he might travel to western Washington for medical reasons or to attend legal proceedings relating to probate of his deceased father’s estate.

When asked a hypothetical question to assume that the board made a finding of a failure to cooperate in discovery, the employee made no suggestion of an alternative sanction than dismissal of the proceeding.
  

The employee testified that he earned a Bachelor’s Degree from Gonzaga University, and a Master’s Degree in Taxation from Gonzaga University, and that he has been licensed as a Certified Public Accountant in the states of Washington, Alaska, Montana, and Wyoming.  The employee’s testimony and filings show an understanding of the English language consistent with his education, including drawing a distinction between the definition of “revenue” and “income,” yet the employee professed to not understand the meaning of the word “sanction” until a definition was provided to him during the hearing.

The employer argued that the employee’s resistance to oral deposition after the board’s June 29, 2007 order was a continuation of a pattern of behavior aimed at resisting the employer’s and insurer’s discovery in this matter, citing to past difficulty by the employer to obtain medical releases, and delay in obtaining responses to Interrogatories,
 and that Mr. Nelson’s case should be dismissed with prejudice.
  The employer identified no lesser sanction than dismissal that could adequately protect the parties’ mutual interests.

B.  Procedural History after the September 11, 2007 hearing:
On September 10, 2007, the employer filed and served by mail a 94-page medical summary, with attached medical records, that was received by the board on September 12, 2007.  This package included:

· a poor quality, apparently incomplete copy of an MRI report of the right shoulder that appears to be dated September 29, 2005 (a multiple generation fax copy);

· a report of MRI imaging of the employee’s lumbar spine, dated May 11, 2006;

· an undated report of arthrogram of the left hip stamped “received 4/4/2007” (noting comparison with x-rays of the hips dated 3/12/2007);

· another report of MRI imaging of the employee’s lumbar spine, dated April 18, 2007;

· an unsigned medical opinion letter attributed to Todd D. Moldawer, MD, dated July 30, 2007;

· additional medical records not previously filed with the board.

After noting this filing, the board’s designated presiding officer wrote the parties directing them to meet and confer, and seeking their respective positions on whether the board should: (a) reopen the record on the pending Employer’s Petition to Dismiss for purposes of receiving and considering the records filed with the board on September 10, 2007; (b) whether the board should continue to hold the record open until certain gaps in the medical records identified by the designated hearing officer had been filled by the parties; and (c) whether the board should find that the employee received Decision and Order No. 07-0182 on July 3, 2007, based in part on US Postal Service records obtained after September 11, 2007.

The employer’s counsel responded that the parties are in agreement that the board may base its finding of the date of receipt of Decision and Order No. 07-0182 by the employee in part on Postal Service records obtained by the board after September 11, 2007.
  The employer opposes the board’s consideration of some of the medical records filed on September 10, 2007.  The employer filed a Request for Cross-Examination and Objection to receipt into evidence in the absence of opportunity for cross-examination
 of documents containing opinions expressed by Todd Moldawer, MD;
 Jerry Johnson, PT;
 Kirk Rowbotham, MD;
 Kenneth Isserlis;
 and Curtis Nelson.

The employee responded to the board’s October 29, 2007 letter by stating that “the board should reopen the record,” that the medical records contained in the September 10, 2007 Medical Summary “is substantial and relevant to my inability to perform an oral deposition without consideration of my safety and comfort, which [the employer has] refused to accomodate” (sic), that the board should determine the September 10, 2007 Medical Summary is “otherwise admissible” under 8 AAC 45.120(i); and that the board should leave the record open for the employee to supplement the medical records as he receives them from his medical providers.
  The employee noted that he did not receive the September 10, 2007 Medical Summary until after the September 11, 2007 hearing, and therefore alleges procedural error in the failure of these documents to be present before the board at the September 11 hearing, and available to the employee during the hearing.  The Employee also objected to the employer’s submission of the Documents for use by Employer at Hearing on September 11, 2007.
 

The employee filed some additional medical records,
 but not all of those identified in the board’s October 29, 2007 letter to the parties.  What appear still to be incomplete in the board’s files are: 
  

· Records of treatment by Steve Laney, MD, consulted by the employee on or about July 26, 2005

· Intake form associated with treatment by J. Carlin, MD, commencing on
September 26, 2005

· Dr. Moldawer’s complete file does not appear to be of record

· The narrative documents by the employee provided to Dr. Moldawer are not clearly identified.

C. Summary of medical evidence relevant to Employee’s current ability to travel to and attend an oral deposition
The employee has a lengthy medical history, both before and after the date of alleged injury of sometime between November 8 and 18, 2005.
  All of the medical records on file with the board at this point in time have been reviewed again regarding the pending petition, and we summarize below those considered most salient to the question of the employee’s current ability to attend to an oral deposition.  All references to medical records are to those filed with the board prior to the September 11, 2007 hearing, with specific notation to those medical records received by the board after that date.

The employee reported that in 2003 his “body crashed with an autoimmune disorder” and that he has been on long-standing prednisone pharmacotherapy since July 2003.
  The employee reported in 2006 that “[h]e takes anywhere from 5 mg to 30 mg of prednisone a day to control his overall joint pain.”  The employee has had previous problems with his shoulders, with arthroscopy and surgical repairs of both shoulders, as well as knee surgeries. 
   

In February 2005, the employee was scheduled for another surgery on his right shoulder, but cancelled the procedure on March 4, 2005.
  

The employee’s position as controller with the employer began sometime between July 18 and July 25, 2005.
 

On July 26, 2005, the employee reported a injuring his right shoulder in a fall while not at work.
  On July 30, 2005, the employee reported to the SEARHC Clinic in Haines, Alaska, received an increase in dosage of prednisone, with no evidence of complaints of or treatment for any injury to musculoskeletal system.

On September 26, 2005, Dr. Carlin examined the employee, noting buttock pain and back pain on forward flexion and extension.  Dr. Carlin formed the impression at that time of “seronegative rheumatoid arthritis, rule out spondylarthropathy,”
 osteoarthritis of multiple sites, and probable rotator cuff partial or complete tear of the right shoulder.  Dr. Carlin formed the plan to have
x-rays of the employee’s spine, pelvis, knees, and right shoulder.  Dr. Carlin opined at that time that the employee was using “fairly high” doses of prednisone, and that he encouraged the employee to taper prednisone use below 10 mg. per day.
  

The employee underwent x-ray imaging on or about September 26, 2005 “to see if he had ankylosing spondylitis.”
  The report of these x-rays, including AP views of the lumbar spine and pelvis, noted in the lumbar spine there was “mild degenerative spurring” of vertebral body endplates L3-L4, and in the pelvis there was “mild right hip joint space narrowing” with “minimal bilateral sclerosis” in both hips, and in the pubic symphysis.
  

X-ray of the right shoulder on the same date of September 26, 2005 showed a 2.8 cm widening of the acromioclavicular joint.
  An MRI of the right shoulder was ordered, and a report dated September 29, 2005 interpreting results of this MRI exam showed a complete tear of the supraspinatus tendon, with retraction.
 

The employee was seen again by Dr. Carlin on November 23, 2005, noting scheduled shoulder surgery for December 2005, and noting continued shoulder, knee and back pain.  Dr. Carlin noted: “his back pain is difficult to manage in the morning and is associated with a moderate amount of stiffness.”  Back examination “shows straightening of the lumbar spine, but there is no localized tenderness.”  Dr. Carlin reviewed the September 2005 x-rays at that time, and formed the plan to have the employee continue to taper his prednisone use, refer to physical therapy, trial of Celebrex, check bone density, and “get an MRI scan of his back and SI joints to rule out spondyloarthropathy as a cause of his pain.”  Dr. Carlin again charted his opinion that the employee’s use of prednisone was too high and that “he is getting significant steroid side effects and needs to decrease the dose of the drug, as he clearly has adrenal insufficiency.” 

The employee underwent a lumbar spine MRI examination, or perhaps the report on examination of MRI films, on November 25, 2005.
  The report on the MRI filming concluded that the employee

has congenitally diffusely narrow lumbar spinal canal.  At L4-L5 there is a severe central canal stenosis secondary to combination of disc bulge and facet joint degenerative changes superimposed on the congenital narrowing.  There is moderate central canal stenosis at L3-L4 as well.  There may be a unilateral pars defect on the left at L5-S1.
 

Dr. Carlin reviewed the results of the November 2005 MRI imaging with the employee on November 25, 2005, summarizing the imaging results and the continuing diagnosis of “seronegative rheumatoid arthritis, currently under good control,” and “multiple areas of osteoarthritis and degenerative disk disease which will not respond to high doses of prednisone.”  Dr. Carlin reiterated his view of the necessity that the employee reduce his prednisone intake, stating “I will not accept a dose of prednisone more than 10 mg and would prefer a dose down to 5 mg.”

The employee was seen by Robert Urata, MD, Valley Medical Care, of Juneau, Alaska, on December 2, 2005, who noted the diagnosis of seronegative spondyloarthropathy and spinal stenosis.
 

The employee underwent surgical repair of the right shoulder on December 22, 2005.
    

Orthopedist Dennis Harrah, MD of Juneau performed an exam of the employee on January 12, 2006, and referred the employee for post-surgical physical therapy on the right shoulder, recommended an MRI of the left shoulder to rule out left rotator cuff tear versus tendinitis, and planned to have the employee examined by Juneau orthopedist Dr. Bozarth if the reported spinal stenosis was not worked up on the employee’s impending trip to the Mayo Clinic for evaluation of the employee’s polyarthropy.

In February 2006, the employee was evaluated at the Mayo Clinic in Scottsdale, Arizona.  The diagnosis at that time was chronic pain syndrome secondary to severe spinal lumbar caudal stenosis and multiple areas of osteoarthritis, with a prescription of pain management consultation.
  Dr. Patel, a neurosurgeon with the Mayo Clinic, on examination of MRI films at that time noted multilevel disk degeneration and congenital narrowing of the spine, with significant spinal canal stenosis.  Dr. Mertz found no evidence of inflammatory arthritis at that time, and recommended a progressive discontinuation of two anti-inflammatories (Enbrel and Plaquenil), and then gradual weaning off prednisone.

An MRI on May 11, 2006 revealed severe central canal stenosis, bilateral neural foraminal narrowing with probable encroachment on the L4 roots, subarticular recess narrowing encroaching on the L5 roots, and moderate disc protrusion at L4-5, with degenerative anterolisthesis of L4 on L5, left-sided spondylolysis defect at L5 with significant facet arthrosis and mild anterolisthesis with marked narrowing of the thecal sac and narrowing of the spinal canal at L5-S1, without change at this L5-S1 level since the prior MRI.

In a chart note on June 22, 2006, Dr. Shuster noted that the MRI of May 11 was “showing 80% occlusion of his L4-5 spinal canal because of significant spondylolisthesis and spinal stenosis and disc herniation” with spondylolysis at L5-S1.

On September 13, 2006, the employee was evaluated by Anthony Sestero, MD.
Dr. Sestero noted the employee’s “longstanding autoimmune disorder” with a medication regimen of prednisone, Enbrel, Plaquenil and other immunosuppressive medications for the employee’s mixed connective tissue disorder.  Dr. Sestoro noted that prednisone use “has varied between 10 and 30 mg per day over the last three years.”

In December 2006 the employee was examined by Dr. Gary Craig, noting the employee as having fatigue; morning stiffness and joint pain that lasts all day; nail dystrophy with brittle, breaking nails; rashes and easily bruised skin; sensitivity in hands and feet with numbness; hyperglycemia; he is being treated with Lipitor.  Dr. Craig diagnosed rheumatoid arthritis, general osteoarthrosis of multiple joints (most significantly at that time the right knee), long-term steroid use, and back pain.
  At that time, the employee reported increasing hip pain, worry about potential avascular necrosis, and “wants off prednisone.”
  

The employee began treating with the Pain Management of North Idaho, PLLC on or about January 29, 2007.  At that time, he was diagnosed with degenerative disc disease of the spine, lumbar facet arthropathy, chronic low back pain, osteoarthritis with polyarthralgia, and chronic opioid use (“with self escalation of opioids to achieve good relief and longstanding use of prednisone”).
  At that time he was on a lengthy list of medications, including prednisone (prescribed 2.5 mg per day, admitted to using 15 mg per day).

MRI of the right shoulder on January 25, 2007 showed extensive full-thickness retracted tears of both infraspinatus and supraspinatus with retraction to the level of the superior labrum, biceps tear, and extensive superior subscapularis tear.

By March 8, 2007, the employee was diagnosed with a complete tear in the right rotator cuff, with referral to an orthopedic specialist in Los Angeles, CA.

On April 2, 2007, MRI of the left shoulder showed a full-thickness supraspinatus tendon tear with supraspinatus tendinosis and other partial tears within the shoulder joint.

In a note dated April 9, 2007, the employee’s physician Dr. Kirk L. Rowbotham, opined that “Mr. Nelson is unable to travel except for medical procedures.  This restriction is indefinite.”

In a consultation chart note dated April 19, 2007, orthopedist Todd Moldawer, MD recited examination of the employee, noting decreased sensation to pinprick over the lateral aspect of the right calf, and a 1.5 inch decrease in calf circumference of the right calf as compared with the left calf.  Patrick’s Test on the left side was found to be positive.  On examination of x-rays and MRI imaging at that time, Dr. Moldawer diagnosed chronic lumbosacral strain, herniated L4-5 disc, lumbar spinal stenosis at L2-3, epidural lipomatosis at L5, spina bifida occult of L5 with congenital anomaly of the posterior elements; possibly demyelinating disease of the CNS by history.  Dr. Moldawer recommended electrodiagnostic evaluation of the back and legs at the same time that the employee was to have a workup for upper extremity complaints by a neurologist in Spokane.  Dr. Moldawer did not schedule a follow-up, but would see the employee “upon request,” and opined the employee “should restrict his activities accordingly in the interim.”

In a form dated July 5, 2007, Dr. Rowbotham opined that the employee was at that time disabled, as that term is defined under Washington law and 42 U.S.C. § 423(d)(1)(A), that the disability began on November 15th, 2005, that the employee was unable to engage in substantial gainful activity, and that the disability was expected to be permanent.  The note, prepared on a pre-printed Proof of Disability Statement form, does not specify the doctor’s opinion, if any, as to the causation of disability.

In a report dated July 24, 2007, addressed to an attorney Kenneth Isserlis with regard to the employee’s claims for long-term and short-term disability benefits, a physical therapist opined that the employee’s comfortable sitting or driving tolerance is less than 60 minutes, that he consistently is unable to maintain an erect standing posture and that his tolerance for standing is less than 30 minutes, and that his lifting tolerance is limited to occasional lifting of items of no more than 20 pounds.
  The report does not cite the dates of examination on which it is based, but recites that the employee was discharged with a home physical therapy program on
January 11, 2007.

In a report dated July 30, 2007, Todd Moldawer, MD, identified as a board-certified orthopedic surgeon, reviewed medical records up to that date, including MRI films of the lumbar spine taken on May 19, 2007.  Dr. Moldawer opined that the employee’s current condition was caused by the alleged mid-November 2005 snow shoveling, and a slip and fall.  Dr. Moldawer opined the employee is unable to perform the tasks of the position of financial controller, specificially describing the lifting requirements.
  Dr. Moldawer’s letter report does not recite review of the September 2005 x-rays of the employee’s back, and does not discuss the diagnoses of long-term opioid and steroid use.

Based upon these facts, we found that there were grounds to re-open the record on the employer’s petition to dismiss, in order to receive and consider certain evidence filed on and after September 11, 2007.  We also ruled on certain evidentiary objections raised by the employee and employer; discussed the board’s view on what conditions on the oral deposition of Mr. Nelson were reasonable, and which were unreasonable, in light of the medical and other evidence; drafted a proposed interlocutory order setting specific conditions for Mr. Nelson’s deposition, in light of the parties’ inability to reach agreement on the conditions and location for an oral deposition; and issued an order to show cause why the proposed interlocutory order specifying conditions for a deposition should not be entered, and declaring a forfeiture until Mr. Nelson submitted to oral deposition under those specified conditions.
 

After issuance of our Decision and Order No. on February 22, 2008, which was conveyed by facsimile transmission to the parties, as well as served by regular mail, Mr. Nelson conveyed in writing his continued adherence to “certain conditions” set forth in his previous letter of
August 22, 2007.
  By letter dated March 11, 2008, Mr. Nelson alluded to a March 10, 2008 telephone conversation with Mr. McKeever, and while continuing to adhere to “certain [unspecified] conditions” of the August 22, 2007 letter, Mr. Nelson also appended a copy of the board’s draft interlocutory order with marginalia identifying those of the board’s suggested conditions
 to which Mr. Nelson agreed, those which he disagreed or else felt were unnecessary, and those conditions which were by him “still under consideration.”
  Regarding a deposition location of Seattle, which the employee had previously strenuously opposed and which the draft board order indicated would be required, in the attachment to the March 11 letter, the employee indicated for the first time that he would agree to a deposition in Seattle.
 

By letter dated April 1, 2008, Mr. McKeever advised the board that the oral deposition of
Mr. Nelson was by that time scheduled to be taken at Mr. McKeever’s office in Seattle on
April 3 and 4, 2008, and that the parties might communicate to the board the view that the upcoming hearing was unnecessary “as that hearing would be moot.”
  By letter dated April 4, 2008, faxed to the board at 3:16 pm on that date, Mr. McKeever advised that the oral deposition of Mr. Nelson took place on April 3, 2008, “and we were able to complete the deposition.”
  Mr. McKeever’s April 4 letter was accompanied by a stipulation dated April 3, 2008, signed by Mr. Nelson and Mr. McKeever which stated:

The Board has scheduled a hearing in this matter on April 8, 2008, to consider the Employer’s Petition to Dismiss.  The Board has indicated it’s intent to order the employee to participate in a deposition under certain conditions.

The deposition of the employee was taken on April 3, 2008 with many of the conditions and accommodations the Board indicated it would order.

Because the employee’s deposition has been taken the hearing set for
April 8, 2008 is not necessary.  The parties therefore request that the hearing be cancelled.

As of April 4, 2008, the board had received no other evidence or argument on the pending petition to dismiss, or on the board’s order to show cause, other than as described above.  Upon receipt of Mr. McKeever’s April 4, 2008 letter and the parties’ April 3, 2008 stipulation, the designated presiding officer issued a pre-hearing order which noted the absence of any written withdrawal of the employer’s petition to dismiss, cancelled the April 8, 2008 oral hearing, and closed the record on the pending employer’s petition to dismiss.
  The employer has subsequently filed no notice of withdrawal of the pending petition to dismiss.

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

1. The board declares a forfeiture of any benefits payable to the employee

for a period of 43.5 days as a lesser sanction to dismissal for the employee’s

unreasonable delay and obstruction of discovery 

AS 23.30.108(c) states, in pertinent part:

If a party refuses to comply with an order by the board’s designee or the board concerning discovery matters, the board may impose appropriate sanctions in addition to any forfeiture of benefits, including dismissing the party’s claim, petition or defense.

AS 23.30.115(a) states in pertinent part:

. . . the testimony of a witness may be taken by deposition or interrogatories according to the Rules of Civil Procedure.

AS 23.30.135(a) states in pertinent part: 


In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by the this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties.  

8 AAC 45.054(a) state, in pertinent part:

The testimony of a material witness, including a party, may be taken by written or oral deposition in accordance with the Alaska Rules of Civil Procedure.

Rule 30(d)(2), Alaska Rules of Civil Procedure, provides in pertinent part:

If the court finds that there has been an impediment, delay, or other conduct that has frustrated the fair examination of the deponent, it may impose upon the persons responsible an appropriate sanction, including the reasonable costs and attorney’s fees incurred by any parties as a result thereof.

The board has long recognized that the Alaska Supreme Court encourages "liberal and wide‑ranging discovery under the Rules of Civil Procedure."
  The board finds that the oral deposition sought here by the employer is a standard method for allowing the employer to conduct discovery regarding the issues involved in this case.
  After a claim has been filed and controverted, an oral deposition of an employee is a usual method allowed any employer “…to properly investigate, administer and defend the employee's claims….”

After it is shown that informal means of resolving a discovery dispute have failed, "we will consider the relevance of the requested information and the method of discovery to be authorized."
  Under AS 23.30.108(c) discovery disputes are initially decided at the level of a prehearing conference by a board designee.
  Although the first sentence of that subsection specifically refers to “releases” and “written documents,” the subsection uses the broader term “discovery matters” as the subject matter of the prehearing conference. We have long interpreted AS 23.30.108 to apply to the general subject of discovery.
  We also interpret AS 23.30.108 to apply to disputes concerning any examination, medical reports or other records held by the parties.

It is well settled that if a party unreasonably or willfully refuses to cooperate in the discovery process, AS 23.30.135 and AS 23.30.108(c) grant broad discretionary authority to the board to make orders which will assure that parties obtain the relevant evidence necessary to litigate or resolve their claims.
  In extreme cases, the board has determined that it has the authority to dismiss claims if an employee willfully obstructs discovery.
  Dismissal with prejudice as a sanction for failure to comply with the discovery process is disfavored in all but the most egregious circumstances.

The board has, however, previously dismissed claims, in their entirety, when an employee repeatedly refused to sign board-ordered releases.
  Similarly, the board has dismissed claims when the employee willfully obstructed discovery
  or refused to comply with the board's order to answer the employer's discovery requests and there are no extenuating circumstances to justify such failure.
  

AS 23.30.115(a) and 8 AAC 45.054 provide that testimony of a party may be taken by deposition according to the Alaska Rules of Civil Procedure.  Civil Rule 37(b) and (d) provide sanctions, including dismissal, for failure of a party to cooperate in the taking of his own deposition.  The Board has dismissed an employee’s claim for an employee’s refusal to execute releases and refusal to participate in a deposition.

Exercise of the extreme sanction of dismissal has been reversed as an abuse of discretion where the board has failed to consider and explain why a sanction short of dismissal would not be adequate to protect the parties’ interests.
  We exclude cumulative, repetitious, irrelevant, or non-material evidence from the record.
  We also refuse to order discovery that will not assist us in ascertaining the rights of the parties, or in the resolution of the claim.

In this case, the board designee issued discovery orders in the Pre-hearing Conference Summary dated March 15, 2007, including the requirement that the employee submit to an oral deposition.  The employee appealed that order to us, and we affirmed the board designee’s decision by order dated June 29, 2007, and continued the hearing on the employer’s petition to dismiss to
August 14, 2007.
  This June 29, 2007 order of the board was received by the employee on
July 3, 2007.  The June 29, 2007 order required the employee to “contact the employer and to complete the arrangements for the deposition within 30 days of the issuance of this decision.”  There was no request to reconsider this order, or action to seek review of it by the Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.  The employee delayed contact of Mr. McKeever until
July 26, 2007, and as related in our subsequent February 22, 2008 order, further disputes regarding the conditions for an oral deposition had not been resolved between the parties by
July 29, 2007,
 and the disputes continued up until the board held a hearing on the employer’s petition to dismiss on September 11, 2007.

The board finds no new evidence or argument in the record to change its previous finding that 
[t]here has been no petition by the employee for a protective order setting conditions for his oral deposition; rather, the employee has refused to agree to a deposition on any terms other than the conditions the employee has specified.  The employee has not been consistent, first refusing any deposition, then refusing any but a telephonic deposition, then agreeing to a deposition in Spokane, but only within a seven-day period that the employee himself chose.  On the current record, the board finds that the employee has been unreasonable in his resistance to an oral deposition.

On the present record, the board finds that there is a reasonable basis for some, but not all, of the employee’s conditions expressed in his August 22, 2007 letter to the employer’s counsel.  .  .  .    The board finds it is unreasonable however, and unduly restrictive on the employer’s right of meaningful discovery and cross-examination, to require the deposition to be taken in the employee’s home, where the employer’s attorney will not be able to control the conditions for the deposition, will not have unrestricted control of a photocopy machine, fax machine, and other business office devices that may needed during the deposition.  Given the extensive documentation upon which the employer likely will need to question the employee, the board finds that it would be unduly restrictive on the employer’s right of meaningful discovery and cross-examination to require the deposition to be telephonic.  The board finds that the employee needs assistance in manipulating and holding documents, and the most practical way for that to occur is for the employer’s counsel to be present in the deposition room with the employee, to effectuate handing documents to the employee, and to direct him to specific records.

AWCB Dec. No. 08-0026, at page 31.

We find that dismissal would be an overly harsh sanction in this case.  We find that the claimant, although an educated and articulate claimant, has otherwise been inartful in his self-advocacy, and pre-occupied by medical treatment regarding his claimed disability.  In order to protect the mutual rights of the parties, including the employer’s interest in orderly discovery to enable expeditious resolution of the employee’s claim, we find that a lesser sanction of partial forfeiture of benefits will protect the parties, prevent future discovery abuses, and is most appropriate in this case.   In past cases such as Thoeni v. Consumer Electronics
 and Purdy v. Pacific Log & Lumber, Ltd.,
 the board has found an appropriate sanction to be the forfeiture of benefits during the period of non-compliance with a board’s discovery order.  We find that the employee did not reasonably comply with the board’s June 29, 2007 discovery order or the board designee’s March 15, 2007 discovery order.  Here, we find the employee’s resistance to the taking of an oral deposition is similar to the circumstances of frustrated discovery in the Thoeni and Purdy cases.  Although we have found some merit to some of the conditions the employee has suggested for his deposition, we find that the employee has been responsible for at least half the delay that has occurred after July 3, 2007 in the setting of the employee’s oral deposition.  July 3, 2007 is the date when the employee received a definitive, unappealed ruling holding that he was compelled to attend an oral deposition.  We find the circumstances of this case less analogous to the circumstances in our previous decisions declining to find cause for a forfeiture of benefits.

Here, there is evidence that the employee refused to attend an oral deposition on any other than his own, partially unreasonable terms, until March 10, 2008.  In the February 28, 2008 letter, the employee continued to adhere to the “certain conditions” of the employee’s August 22, 2007 letter, which included an unreasonable refusal to travel to Seattle to attend a deposition at least expense to the employer.
  The employee has a master’s degree in taxation, and the board finds him very sophisticated at expressing himself both verbally and in writing.  We find that the employee was vague about which conditions the employee continued to adhere to after receiving the board’s February 22, 2008 order, and we find this vagueness is proof of the employee’s continued bad faith refusal to attend an oral deposition, notwithstanding his self-serving declaration that “I have been available for the oral deposition ordered by the Board since my letter to you dated August 22, 2007.”
  Ultimately, the proof of good faith is conduct, and if Mr. Nelson intended to satisfy the board’s July 3, 2007 order to contact the employer and make arrangements for an oral deposition, the board finds that the deposition would have completed long before April 3, 2008.

It is true that the matter of the employer’s petition to dismiss has been pending before the board since September 11, 2007, and although there was correspondence from the board panel’s presiding officer seeking the parties’ position on whether to re-open the record, it might be viewed that somehow Mr. Nelson might have been induced to believe that the petition to dismiss would not be granted, no lesser sanction would issue, and that somehow the board would either modify, withdraw, or not enforce the order for the employee to submit to an oral deposition during the time period from September 11, 2007 to February 22, 2008.  However, it should have become clear to the employee on February 22, 2008, when the parties were supplied with Decision and Order No. 08-0026 by facsimile transmission, that the board was going to enforce its June 29, 2007 order, which affirmed the board designee’s discovery order of March 15, 2007. 

The documentary record of the precise date on which the parties reached agreement on conditions of the employee’s deposition, including date, location, and other conditions, is not absolutely clear from the record, but we find evidence of good faith negotiation and progress toward setting the deposition to have occurred on March 10, 2008.
  Therefore, we find that the period of sanctionable delay by the employee in taking an oral deposition was from July 3, 2007 to 
September 11, 2007, and from February 22, 2008 to March 10, 2008.  This is a total time period of 87 days (not including the dates of July 3 and February 22).  Because we find that the employee is responsible for at least half the delay during this time period, we find that an appropriate sanction for the employee’s delay in making arrangements to attend an oral deposition is to order a forfeiture of 43.5 days worth of benefits. 

ORDER

1. The board declares that any benefits payable to the employee under the Alaska Workers Compensation Act are hereby declared forfeited for a total of forty three and a half  (43.5) days, and shall be subtracted from any benefits found payable to the employee on his pending claims.

2. The employer’s petition to dismiss as a discovery sanction is denied, without prejudice to be renewed in the event of proof of future unreasonable delay in discovery by the employee.

3. The board remands this matter to the board’s designee, Workers Compensation Officer Betty Johnson, reserving jurisdiction to resolve any remaining disputes between the parties under the board’s regulations and applicable law. 

Dated at Juneau, Alaska on April 30, 2008.


ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD


/s/ Robert B. Briggs

Robert B. Briggs, Designated Chair


/s/ Patricia A. Vollendorf

Patricia A. Vollendorf, Member


/s/ Richard Behrends

Richard H. Behrends, Member

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Interlocutory Decision and Order in the matter of CURTIS  NELSON employee / applicant v. KLUKWAN INC., employer; ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE CO., insurer / defendants; Case No. 200524045; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Juneau, Alaska, on April 30,  2008.


_________________________________________________


Susan N. Oldacres, Workers’ Comp. Tech.
�








� Both parties have filed certain documents and correspondence after April 4, 2008, which we have not considered as part of this decision.  8 AAC 45.120(m).  The oral argument on the pending petition to dismiss was set for April 8, 2008; the order set forth specifically the deadlines for submission of additional evidence and argument. Nelson v. Klukwan, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 08-0026, at pages 22 and 34, para. 6.  Mr. Nelson was provided with a copy of the current edition of LexisNexis compilation of Alaska Workers’ Compensation Laws and Regulations.  Id. page 1, n. 1.  Under those regulations, all factual evidence to be admitted was required to be filed and served twenty (20) days prior to the hearing, or on or before March 19, 2008.  8 AAC 45.120(f); Dec. No. 08-0026, at page 22.  Legal memoranda containing legal authorities and argument about the evidence, or the application of the law to the evidence, were due five working days prior to the hearing, or by April 1, 2008.  8 AAC 45.114(1); Dec. No. 08-0026, at page 22.  We did consider for this decision the following additional documents submitted after March 19, 2008 but before we closed the record: Letter, C. Nelson to T. McKeever (dated Mar. 24, 2008)(with three pages of attachments, including Letter, T. McKeever to C. Nelson (dated Mar. 21, 2008)); Letter, T. McKeever to R. Briggs (dated Apr. 1, 2008); Letter, T. McKeever to R. Briggs (dated Apr. 4, 2008)(with attached Stipulation Concerning Hearing on April 8, 2008).  We considered the letters by Mr. Nelson and Mr. McKeever as either non-hearsay under Rule 801(d), or a statement of present sense impression under Rule 803(1), and therefore subject to consideration by the board under 8 AAC 45.120(h)(1) or (2).  The stipulation was considered under 8 AAC 45.050(f)(2) and (3).  Fax copies of these were received on or before we closed the record on April 4, 2008, per the board panel’s previous order permitting the parties to file and serve via facsimile transmission, as an accommodation of the employee’s apparent current disability.  See Nelson v. Klukwan, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 08-0026, at pages 32-33 (Feb. 22, 2008).


� See Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., et al., AWCAC Dec. No. 2, at 3-4, n. 5 (Jan. 27, 2006).


� A second issue set for the hearing, an order to show cause why the board should not enter an order compelling the employee to submit to oral deposition under specified conditions, and to declare a forfeiture of benefits should the employ fail to appear at a deposition as agreed or ordered, has been mooted by the employee’s deposition, which was taken on April 3, 2008 per report of the parties.


� AWCB Dec. No. 08-0026, at pages 2-18 (Feb. 22, 2008), quoting from and augmenting AWCB Dec. No. 07-0182 (June 29, 2007).


� Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, October 1, 2006.  The employee testified that he did not provide the employer with a written report of injury on or before stopping work with the employer by Christmas 2005.  Testimony of C. Nelson.


� Magnetic Resonance Imaging study, November 25, 2005.


� See, e.g., Dr. Schuster medical report, March 29, 2007.


� Attachment, “To Whom it May Concern” (undated, unsigned) attached to L. Katt, Employer’s Representative, Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, Employer’s Statement (dated Oct. 17, 2006)


� Controversion Notice, October 26, 2006.


� Id.


� Workers’ Compensation Claim dated November 4, 2006.


� Employer’s Exhibit E, page 2 (Letter dated November 30, 2006).


� Employer’s Exhibit Q, page 2 (Petition dated December 9, 2006)(hereinafter, the “Petition for Deposition Protective Order”).  The only petition that the board has record as having been filed during this time period is a different petition, dated December 8, 2006, which seeks a protective order regarding medical releases.  Petition dated Decmeber 8, 2006, filed December 18, 2006 (hereinafter, the “Petition for Release Protective Order”).


� Facsimile transmission, G. Santopolo, Holmes Weddle & Barcott, to K. Donovan, WCA (dated Jan. 30, 2007)(conveying copy of the Petition for Deposition Protective Order).


� Employer/Carrier’s First Interrogatories and Request for Production (dated Feb. 28, 2007, served Mar. 1, 2007, filed Mar. 6, 2007).


� Pre-hearing Conference Summary (dated Mar. 15, 2007, served Mar. 19, 2007).


� Petition Appeal of 3/15/07 Decision by WC Officer K. Donovan Ordering Oral Deposition etc. (dated and filed Mar. 28, 2007).


� See Employer’s Exhibit S, attached to Documents for Use by Employer at Hearing on September 11, 2007 (filed Sept. 12, 2007).


� Decision and Order No. 07-0182, at pages 5 and 9-10.


� Employee’s Hearing Brief for Hearing on June 12, 2007 and Declaration of Curtis L. Nelson (dated June 8, 2007), at pages 1-2 (copy filed June 14, 2007).  The board does not have record of filing of the original of this brief/declaration faxed to the board by the employee on June 8, 2007).


� Letter, C. Nelson to J. Schuster, MD (dated June 4, 2007) attached as Exhibit F, page 1 to id. (copy filed June 14, 2007).


� Decision and Order No. 07-0182 (June 29, 2007), at page 11.


� USPS Form 3811, Item No. 70031010000255149370 (dated July 3, 2007, filed July 6, 2007); see also US Postal Service, Track and Confirm Printout for Item 70031010000255149370 (printed and filed Oct. 23, 2007).  The parties agree that the board may take notice of the receipt of Decision and Order No. 07-0182 by the employee on July 3, 2007 at Spokane, WA, as evidenced by his signature of the Postal Service “green card.”  Letter, T.A.McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott, to R. Briggs, H.O., AWCB (dated Jan. 18, 2008), at page 1 (describing agreement of parties that board may rely on Postal Service records as to date of delivery of D&O 07-0182).  A copy of this signed “green card” was supplied with the board’s letter inviting further briefing from the parties on this issue.


� Testimony of C. Nelson at Sept. 11, 2007 hearing.


� See generally Employee’s Brief at page 3 (dated Sept. 11, 2007)(“Every method of achieving the oral deposition which worked for me, would not work for them.  Every method of achieving the oral deposition which worked for them, would cease to work for them after it was learned that it would also work for me.”); Exhibits M, U, N, O, P, W, X, Y (filed as “Documents for Use By Employer at Hearing on September 11, 2007)(filed September 12, 2007). 


� See Employer’s Exhibit O, Letter, T.A.McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott, to C. Nelson (dated July 31, 2007).


� The board takes administrative notice that the travel itinerary from Ketchikan, AK to Spokane, WA of shortest time duration involves flight via Alaska Airlines from Ketchikan, AK to Spokane, WA requires a stop over, and ordinarily a change of planes, at SEATAC Airport near Seattle.  E.g., Employer’s Exhibit N, pages 10-11.


� E.g., Letter, T.A. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott, to M. Kokrine, AWCB (dated July 31, 2007)(filed as Exhibit N, at page 1) attached to Documents for Use by Employer at Hearing on September 11, 2007(filed Sept. 12, 2007).


� Id., attachments.


� Employer’s Exhibit P (notice dated August 3, 2007).


� [Employer’s] Notice of Depositions Cancellation (dated Aug. 6, 2007).


� Testimony of C. Nelson at hearing on Sept. 11, 2007.


� Employee’s Petition for Continuance (dated August 7, 2007)(reciting “I am in Ketchikan attending to urgent personal affairs”).


� See generally Testimony of C. Nelson at hearing on Sept. 11, 2007; Employee’s Exhibits M, U, N, O, P, W (reciting communications between employer’s counsel and Mr. Nelson from June 29-Aug. 6, 2007 regarding setting of oral deposition).


� Employer’s Exhibit X (letter dated August 22 and 27, 2007).


� Employer’s Exhibit Y.


� Testimony of C. Nelson at hearing on Sept. 11, 2007.


� Documents for Use by Employer at Hearing on September 11, 2007 (filed Sept. 11, 2007), with attached exhibits labeled in this sequence: C, E, Q, G, H, R, S, T, M, U, N, O, P, W, X, Y.


� Comment of T. McKeever at Sept. 11, 2007 hearing.  Cf. A through P attached to Employer’s Hearing Brief for Hearing on August 14, 2007 (served on August 7, 2007; filed on August 10, 2007). 


� Letter, T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott, to C. Nelson (dated Aug. 27, 2007, copy filed Aug. 31, 2007).


� Mr. Nelson testified that his drive from Spokane to Prince Rupert, BC took 6 days, from July 9 to July 15, 2007. While in Ketchikan, the employee testified, he slept in the bottom of his boat.  The employee testified that the purpose of this trip was to respond to “urgent personal matters,” which he later clarified as an effort to sell his boat.  He testified that the boat was not under foreclosure proceedings or other involuntary sale or seizure, that he was current on the boat payments, but that he had no idea how he was going to make the October 2007 boat payment  Testimony of C. Nelson at Sept. 11, 2007 hearing.


� See Exhibit A-1 (Mr. Nelson’s Complaint Report to the City of Ketchikan), attached to [Employee’s] Request for Continuance, dated Aug. 7, 2007.


� Employer’s Exhibit O, page 1 (reciting July 27, 2007 telephone conversation between Mr. McKeever and Mr. Nelson).


� Testimony of C. Nelson.


� Testimony of C. Nelson at Sept. 11, 2007 hearing.


� Id. (10:52:00).


� Id. (discussing Employer’s Exhibit S, at page 12); see Employee’s Hearing Brief for Hearing on June 12, 2007 (dated June 8, 2007).


� The employee’s responses to Interrogatories, served on March 1, 2007, were provided approximately two (2) months after they were due.  See Employee’s Exhibit S, at page 5 (interrogatory responses dated June 7, 2007).


� Brief of Employer 


� Medical Summary (dated Sept. 10, 2007, filed Sept. 12, 2007).


� Letter, R. Briggs, H.O., to C.Nelson and T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Oct. 29, 2007).


� See Note 20, supra.


� [Employer’s] Request for Cross-Examination (dated Nov. 2, 2007; filed Nov. 5, 2007).


� Letter, T. Moldawer, MD, to K. Isserlis, attorney (dated July 30, 2007), filed in Medical Summary (dated Sept. 10, 2007; filed Sept. 12, 2007).


� Letter, J. Johnson, PT, to K. Isserlis, attorney (dated July 24, 2007), filed in Medical Summary (dated Aug. 17, 2007; filed Aug. 20, 2007).


� K. Rowbotham, MD., Proof of Disability Statement (dated July 5, 2007) and Disabled Parking Application (dated July 5, 2007) filed with [Employee’s] Request for Continuance (faxed to the board on Aug. 7, 2007); see also Fax, T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle &  Barcott, to D. Torgerson, WCO, AWCB (Aug. 7, 2007)(faxing copy of same).


� Letter, K. Isserlis, attorney, Lee & Isserlis, P.S., Spokane, WA, to J. M. Johnson, PT (dated June 28, 2007), filed in Medical Summary (dated Aug. 17, 2007; filed Aug. 20, 2007).


� C. Nelson, unidentified document dated Jan. 29, 2007, filed with Medical Summary (dated Sept. 10, 2007, filed Sept. 12, 2007).  The board has examined the September 10, 2007 Medical Summary, however, and has not identified any document within the Medical Summary that has indicia of authorship by Mr. Nelson. 


� C. Nelson, Handwritten marginalia (undated) to Letter, T. McKeever, Holmes Weddle and Barcott (dated Nov. 2, 2007), attached to Letter, C. Nelson, to T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Nov. 7, 2007; filed Nov. 13, 2007).


� [Employee’s] Affidavit of Objections (dated Oct. 30, 2007, filed Nov. 5, 2007).


� Letter, C. Nelson to R. Briggs, AWCB, and T. McKeever (dated Dec. 12, 2007; filed Dec. 24, 2007), (with attached records tabbed 2-7 and A-C).


� Compare  id. with Letter, R. Briggs, H.O., to C.Nelson and T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Oct. 29, 2007).


� See J. Carlin, MD, Chart note, Rheumatology Dept., Virginia Mason Med. Cntr. (dated Sept. 26, 2005), at page 2 (referring to Intake Form under “Review of Systems”) attached as Tab 4 of Letter, C. Nelson to R. Briggs, AWCB and T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Dec. 12, 2007, filed Dec. 24, 2007).


� See Workers’ Compensation Claim (dated Nov. 4, 2006) at page 1.


� L. Kozora, PT, Initial Evaluation, Synergy Healthcare (Sept. 21, 2006).  E.g., J.K. Shuster, MD, Chart Note, Northwest Orthopaedic Specialists, PS (dated Apr. 11, 2006)(noting prednisone as part of medication regimen); Letter,  G.L. Craig, MD, Arthritis Northwest PLLC, to K. Rowbotham, MD, Re: C.L. Nelson (Dec. 22, 2006), at page 2 (noting prednisone dosage 5 mg per day);  


� E.g., M.H. Kody, MD, Chart Note, Northwest Orthopaedic Specialists, PS (Oct. 13, 2004)(reporting right rotator cuff surgery “ten years ago” and describing knee surgeries); M.H. Kody, MD, Chart Note, Northwest Orthopaedic Specialists, PS (Oct. 20, 2004)(discussing MRI scan of right rotator cuff, recommendation for surgery).


� Chart Note, Northwest Orthopaedic Specialists, PS (Mar. 4, 2005).


� [Employer’s] Response to Employee’s Petition for Protective Order dated March 28, 2007 (dated Apr. 11, 2007, filed April 13, 2007), Exhibit C, page 9 (letter offering position as controller, reciting start date).


� E-mail, C. Nelson to S. Laney, MD (dated July 24, 2005).


� Southeast Alaska Regional Health Consortium, Haines Medical Clinic, Emergency Visit Record (dated July 30, 2005).


� Spondyloarthropathy is defined as “any of several diseases (as ankylosing spondylitis) affecting the joints of the spine.”  Merriam-Webster’s Medical Dictionary OnLine.  See � HYPERLINK "http://medical.merriam-webster.com/" �http://medical.merriam-webster.com/�medical/�spondylarthropathy (printout filed January 29, 2008). 


� J. Carlin, MD, Chart note, Rheumatology Dept., Virginia Mason Med. Cntr. (dated Sept. 26, 2005), at page 2 (referring to Intake Form under “Review of Systems”) attached as Tab 4,  Letter, C. Nelson to R. Briggs, AWCB and T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Dec. 12, 2007, filed Dec. 24, 2007).


� J.K. Shuster, MD, Chart Note, Northwest Orthopedic Specialists, PS (Dec. 14, 2006).  The MRI report of imaging on November 25, 2005 notes “correlation with plain firm 9/26/2006.”


� N.R. Conti, MD, Radiology Consultation Report, Dept. of Radiology, Virginia Mason Med. Cntr. (dated Sept. 26, 2005), attached as Tab 3, Letter, C. Nelson to R. Briggs, AWCB and T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Dec. 12, 2007, filed Dec. 24, 2007).


�Id.


� T.R. Paprocki, Report of MRI Shoulder w/o Contrast, [Institution not identified] (dated Sept. 29, 2005), attached as Tab 2,  Letter, C. Nelson to R. Briggs, AWCB and T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Dec. 12, 2007, filed Dec. 24, 2007).


� J. Carlin, MD, Chart note, Rheumatology Dept., Virginia Mason Med. Cntr. (dated Nov. 23, 2005), at page 2 attached as Tab 4, Letter, C. Nelson to R. Briggs, AWCB and T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Dec. 12, 2007, filed Dec. 24, 2007).


� M.J. Lacrampe, MD, Radiology Consultation Report, Virginia Mason Med. Cntr. (dated Nov. 25, 2005), attached as Tab 5, to Letter, C. Nelson to R. Briggs, AWCB and T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Dec. 12, 2007, filed Dec. 24, 2007).  Dr. Carlin’s chart note of review of this MRI film interpretation is dated Nov. 25, 2005, and recites MRI imaging “last Wednesday,” which would have been Wednesday, November 23, 2005.  J. Carlin, MD, Chart note, Rheumatology Dept., Virginia Mason Med. Cntr. (dated Nov. 25, 2005), attached as Tab 5, to Letter, C. Nelson to R. Briggs, AWCB and T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Dec. 12, 2007, filed Dec. 24, 2007).


� M.J. Lacrampe, MD, Radiology Consultation Report, Virginia Mason Med. Cntr. (dated Nov. 25, 2005), attached as Tab 5, to Letter, C. Nelson to R. Briggs, AWCB and T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Dec. 12, 2007, filed Dec. 24, 2007).  


� J. Carlin, MD, Chart note, Rheumatology Dept., Virginia Mason Med. Cntr. (dated Nov. 25, 2005), attached as Tab 5, to Letter, C. Nelson to R. Briggs, AWCB and T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Dec. 12, 2007, filed Dec. 24, 2007).


� R. Urata, MD, Chart note, Valley Medical Center, Juneau, AK (dated Dec. 2, 2005), attached as Tab 6, to Letter, C. Nelson to R. Briggs, AWCB and T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Dec. 12, 2007, filed Dec. 24, 2007).


� M.H. Kody, MD, Operative Report, The Orthopaedic Surgery Center (Dec. 22, 2005)(revision of rotator cuff repair, right shoulder).


� D. Harrah, MD, Chart note (dated Jan. 12, 2006), attached as Tab 7, to Letter, C. Nelson to R. Briggs, AWCB and T. McKeever, Holmes, Weddle & Barcott (dated Dec. 12, 2007, filed Dec. 24, 2007).


� L.E. Mertz, MD, Diagnosis, Mayo Clinic, Scottsdale, AZ (Feb. 17, 2006).
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